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          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: We are here

          3  today to consider Intro. No. 105, a bill to remove

          4  the age limit for entering police officers.  As you

          5  may know, police officers are required to be under

          6  age 35 years old upon appointment to the force.

          7                 Police officers are one of the most

          8  valuable symbols of service that the City provides.

          9  Police officers also symbolize the City's commitment

         10  to public policy, and as we all know the police

         11  officers are responsible for dealing with crime.

         12  Police officers are often placed in situations of

         13  great danger both to themselves and to the public

         14  around them.

         15                 Maintaining a police force also

         16  requires a significant commitment of the City's

         17  physical resources to wages, pensions and other

         18  benefits. There are many issues to consider on both

         19  sides of this bill.

         20                 Those who favor removing the age

         21  limits say that allowing older officers will allow

         22  us to have more mature police officers in the force

         23  with valuable life experiences to draw upon,

         24  particularly in times of crisis. Removing age limits

         25  is also a way of attracting those with military
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          2  service and experience.

          3                 On the other hand, opponents to this

          4  bill argue that allowing older officers poses a

          5  threat to public safety and causes other problems.

          6  We are here to explore these issues today.

          7                 Our first witness is Inspector George

          8  Anderson and Susan Petito, Assistant Commissioner to

          9  Intergovernment Affairs.

         10                 You may start.

         11                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  Good afternoon,

         12  Mr. Chairman and members of the Council.  I am

         13  Inspector George Anderson, Commanding Officer of the

         14  Staff Services Section of the Office of the Chief of

         15  Personnel, New York City Police Department and I am

         16  pleased to be here today on behalf of Police

         17  Commissioner Raymond W. Kelly to express our strong

         18  opposition to the bill before you Intro. No. 105.

         19                 The bill would remove the maximum age

         20  for appointment as a police officer.  New York City

         21  Administrative Code Section 14-109 requires that a

         22  candidate not have reached the age of 35 as of the

         23  date of filing an application for the Civil Service

         24  examination for police officer.

         25                 This requirement is an essential part
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          2  of a long standing, rational system of statutory age

          3  limits for police officers, both on hiring and

          4  retirement, in order to maintain a strong, healthy

          5  and productive police department.

          6                 This system includes not only a

          7  maximum age of hiring, but also provides for the

          8  ability to retire after 20 years with full pension

          9  benefits.

         10                 The Council has previously considered

         11  removing the age restriction on appointment as a

         12  police officer and enacted a law over a Mayoral veto

         13  in 1998 in order to allow a particular group of

         14  individuals over 35 to be appointed because they

         15  applied to take the police officer exam while the

         16  age restriction was temporarily suspended.

         17                 However, even when carving out this

         18  exception for these individuals, the Council stated

         19  clearly in its legislative findings that the maximum

         20  age restriction is necessary. Section 1 of Local Law

         21  23 of 1998 states:

         22                 Although the Council finds that age

         23  restrictions on the hiring of police officers and

         24  firefighters are necessary and in the furtherance of

         25  public safety, the Council also recognizes that

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  police officer candidates who were scheduled to

          3  enter the April 15, 1997 class at the Police Academy

          4  may not have received timely notification of the

          5  reinstatement of the Age Discrimination in

          6  Employment Act exemption for states and

          7  municipalities.

          8                 Accordingly, the Council acts herein

          9  solely to rectify the resulting inequity.  With the

         10  federal exemption reinstated and the New York State

         11  Civil Service Commission determination as to its

         12  retroactive applicability, however, the Council

         13  intends that the age restriction apply to all other

         14  candidates not covered by the specific provisions of

         15  this legislation. It further finds that such age

         16  restriction is necessary to secure the public safety

         17  of the City of New York.

         18                 There are good reasons why the

         19  Administrative Code provides a maximum age of

         20  appointment for police officers.  The very nature of

         21  police work requires that officers have the physical

         22  and medical ability to do the job. Their safety and

         23  the safety of the public they serve often depend

         24  upon quick response and many kinds of physical

         25  activity in rapid succession, such as running,
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          2  climbing, carrying, engaging in unarmed self

          3  defense, et cetera. Police officers must abe able to

          4  perform these tasks at any time during their tours

          5  of duty, throughout the entire duration of their

          6  careers.

          7                 We have studied the issue of maximum

          8  appointment age and have confirmed the logical

          9  assumptions associated with the issue of older

         10  police officers joining the Department.

         11                 First, to provide some background

         12  information, the average age of the Police Academy

         13  class commencing in July 2002 was 26 years old.  The

         14  average age of a police officer on patrol is 33.6

         15  years old.  For the period of 2001 through the

         16  present, the average age of police officers promoted

         17  to sergeant was 34.5, for sergeants promoted to

         18  lieutenant was 37.3 and for lieutenants promoted to

         19  captain was 39.6.

         20                 Therefore, candidates over 35 would

         21  be raw recruits when their contemporaries would be

         22  assuming the leadership of the Department.  Perhaps

         23  even more critical, a 39 year-old rookie who first

         24  spends six or more months in the Police Academy is

         25  then expected to do the same job as a 39 year- old
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          2  veteran, thus being much more likely to suffer the

          3  physical consequences of inexperience, as

          4  demonstrated by the following analysis of days of

          5  work lost per injury.

          6                 Older police officers are more likely

          7  to lose a greater number of days of work than

          8  younger officers when injured. In 2000 the average

          9  number of sick days lost per injury was 10.8 for 25

         10  year olds versus 13.9 for 39 year olds; in 2001 the

         11  average was 10.3 days for 25 year olds versus 13.9

         12  for 39 year olds; and in 2002 the average was 10.4

         13  for 25 year olds versus 13.9 for 39 year olds.  This

         14  is especially important in a department such as ours

         15  which has a policy of unlimited sick leave for

         16  uniformed officers.

         17                 In the context of examining the issue

         18  in 1997, the Department studied the impact of age on

         19  pension issues.  We found that the average age of an

         20  officer who retired on a disability pension was 39.6

         21  years and the average age of officers retiring on a

         22  regular 20- year service pension was 46.3.  Older

         23  officers were increasingly more likely to be retired

         24  on disability pensions.

         25                 When comparing officers on patrol
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          2  duty, someone between 31 and 45 was 9.6 times more

          3  likely to suffer a debilitating line of duty injury,

          4  requiring retirement, than someone 30 and under.  An

          5  officer between 46 and 56 was 35 times more likely

          6  and an officer over 56 was 130 times more likely to

          7  have to retire on a disability pension than someone

          8  30 or younger.

          9                 Note that although police officers

         10  must by law retire at age 63, the Administrative

         11  Code provides that they be permitted to serve a full

         12  twenty years before being forced to retire, even if

         13  they have reached 63.

         14                 Therefore, a candidate appointed to

         15  the Department at age 50 or 55 would theoretically

         16  be entitled to work as a police officer until age 70

         17  or 75.  Although appointments at these ages may seem

         18  to be an unrealistic example, we note that when the

         19  age restriction was temporarily suspended in 1996,

         20  the average age of the 715 candidates identified as

         21  35 and over from the police exam given at that time

         22  was 39.2 years old; 260 were over 40, 22 were over

         23  50 and 5 were over 60, including four candidates who

         24  listed their age as 65 at the time of the exam.

         25                 In sum, the data evidences a
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          2  disturbing and expensive picture of a police

          3  department with a significant percentage of

          4  truncated careers and lost patrol days, creating the

          5  constant need to hire and train replacements at an

          6  ever increasing rate.  The physical nature of the

          7  job is an integral part of the 20- year retirement

          8  policy and the wisdom of utilizing a natural and

          9  logical maximum appointment age accompanied by a

         10  maximum retirement age is amply demonstrated. This

         11  is in fact the reason that the law enforcement

         12  exemption to the Age Discrimination in Employment

         13  Act exists.

         14                 It is respectfully suggested that

         15  Intro. No. 105 subverts a vital goal we share, to

         16  preserve and support excellence in the Police

         17  Department, which is entrusted with protecting life

         18  and safety for all New Yorkers.  Therefore, we

         19  strongly oppose its enactment.

         20                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         21  discuss Intro. No. 105, and I will be pleased to

         22  answer any questions you may have.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Thank you.  I

         24  have a question.  When the person who wants to be in

         25  the police department, if he is over age 35 and say
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          2  for example 37 or 38, would they have to pass a

          3  written test, but a physical test as well?

          4                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  The requirements

          5  to become a police officer would theoretically

          6  remain the same if the age restriction were to be

          7  lifted. Yes they would have to pass medical,

          8  physical ability, psychological screening and so

          9  forth.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Wouldn't the

         11  physical test be difficult for persons who are

         12  older?

         13                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  I think that it

         14  is important to realize that screening tests that

         15  are taken to come on the job merely qualify you for

         16  appointment and it is somewhat of a limited view of

         17  what the actual realities of police work are.  The

         18  thing to focus on I think is what the experience has

         19  been as individuals who are older actually perform

         20  service with the police department.

         21                 I think in the testimony it pretty

         22  amply indicates that the likelihood of suffering a

         23  debilitating injury is greater the likelihood that

         24  more sick time or days of work lost due to an injury

         25  are going to be more likely as a person becomes
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          2  older.  You start out older it is certainly more

          3  likely that you are going to have those problems as

          4  you go through your career.

          5                 So, I think that the screening tests

          6  are of course important to qualify you to come into

          7  the department, but the question is what happens

          8  once you are in and I think the evidence shows that

          9  there are problems associated with considering

         10  lifting that maximum appointment age.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Just for the

         12  benefit of our Committee and the public, would you

         13  explain to us the description of what the physical

         14  screening test entails?

         15                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  Sure.  The

         16  physical ability test is a timed obstacle course

         17  like event, which involves running, dodging through

         18  an obstacle course, dragging a dummy to simulate a

         19  carry situation, scaling over a wall to simulate

         20  during a pursuit and candidates are required to do

         21  these events on a continuous basis within a certain

         22  timeframe in order to be considered qualified

         23  physically.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  And normal

         25  people, say for example who are under say age 35 who
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          2  take this test now, how many of them actually fail?

          3                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  I don't have

          4  this specific data available right now.  We can

          5  certainly get that for you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Okay.  Once a

          7  person passes this physical examination, they have

          8  to go into the police academy, right?

          9                 And how long is the training in the

         10  academy?

         11                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  The training is

         12  generally about six months in length.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  And does that

         14  training take up a lot of physical exercise?

         15                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  Yes, physical

         16  training is part of the police academy curriculum.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Is this an

         18  every day activity?

         19                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  Yes, physical

         20  training is part of the everyday academy curriculum.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  So the person,

         22  say for example, who would have passed the screen

         23  test and then entered the academy, would they not be

         24  weeded out in the academy process if they could not

         25  meet the physical demands of the academy training?
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          2                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  That is always a

          3  possibility, people that are younger who pass our

          4  screening test sometimes don't get through the

          5  police academy.

          6                 But again, I think the important

          7  thing to focus on is longitudinally down that

          8  individuals career, not just what they do either at

          9  a screening test or during the six months they are

         10  in the police academy.  But what happens to them

         11  once they are out doing the job and what is the

         12  likelihood respectively of individuals who come in

         13  within the current window between age 21 and 35 as

         14  compared to individuals who would come in over age

         15  35 and older.

         16                 I think we can all pretty much

         17  imagine that someone who is starting out at 55 is

         18  not going to be at the same place physically as a

         19  person who is starting out at 25.  I think the data

         20  that we present on workdays lost and on disability

         21  pension indicate that again the likelihood of having

         22  problems because you are starting out older are much

         23  more likely.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  At 55 seems

         25  like an extreme example because when you did open up
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          2  the exams before the majority who came to apply was

          3  about the average age of 39, right? Very few, you

          4  mentioned which is kind of an unlikely --

          5                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON: Well, that is 22

          6  individuals.  We have individuals between 40 and 45

          7  there are almost over 200 of those.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  What were the

          9  retentions of individuals over age 39 to 40.  What

         10  happened to those 250 people now?  Are they still

         11  there?

         12                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  Well actually

         13  the exemption only affected 61 individuals in that

         14  original group of 715 and about 24 of those

         15  individuals successfully competed and became police

         16  officers and still remain with the department today.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Do you know

         18  how many of them were weeded out in the academy

         19  process?

         20                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  I don't have

         21  that information available sir, I will get it for

         22  you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Some say a

         24  more mature officer sometimes is better because a

         25  person with the life experiences, especially
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          2  entering into domestic issues, being married before

          3  and also in terms of an older person understanding

          4  the life and death, in terms would less likely use

          5  excessive force, what do you feel about that?

          6                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  Well, I think

          7  that it certainly likely that a person who is in

          8  their early 30s is going to have accrued a fairly

          9  substantial amount of maturity so we always have to

         10  balance those issues with other aspects of police

         11  performance and again I think the record is pretty

         12  clear that as the age increases the likelihood of

         13  the physical nature of the job taking a greater toll

         14  increases.

         15                 So, certainly maturity is one

         16  important element of what a police officer has to

         17  have, but physical ability is also an important

         18  innate ability or element that a police officer has

         19  to posses.  I think that the current maximum

         20  appointment age does a very nice job of balancing

         21  those two issues encouraging people to come into the

         22  job in their 30s up to age 35 but doesn't bring in

         23  that other element of the possibility of the

         24  likelihood of being unable to perform the physical

         25  aspects of the job, particularly during the early
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          2  part of your career.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: What about

          4  veterans?  People in the military who want to join

          5  who have had substantial military training.

          6                 Do you think that they would bring

          7  some better experience coming into the Police

          8  Department?

          9                 Say, for instance, if he was in the

         10  military and is 37 years old and he wanted to join

         11  the police force, would you think that would be a

         12  good idea?

         13                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON: I think it is and

         14  I think the law already recognizes and provides an

         15  exemption for persons with military service to join

         16  the department over and above the maximum

         17  appointment age, are able to credit up to six years

         18  of military service.  So those individuals in the

         19  example you are giving would be eligible to join the

         20  Police Department.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  So one

         22  currently age 41 could join the Police Department.

         23                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  If they have six

         24  years of military service, yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  At this time
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          2  the Chair recognizes Council Member Seabrook.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

          4  Mr. Chairman. Inspector, here are a couple of

          5  questions.

          6                 Is the issue simply a physical issue

          7  here?

          8                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  I think that is

          9  one of the main driving elements of the department's

         10  opposition is the data that I have presented.  There

         11  is a much increased likelihood of suffering

         12  debilitating injuries, there is a much increased

         13  likelihood of losing a greater number of workdays

         14  when you are injured, there is an increased

         15  likelihood as one ages of suffering an injury that

         16  would make it necessary for you retire on disability

         17  pension.

         18                 So I think we focus here on the

         19  physical nature of policing which we know is an

         20  important element of the job and so I think that

         21  most of the department's opposition is in

         22  considering those kinds of outcomes that could

         23  accrue if we do raise the maximum appointment age.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Now, once a

         25  person satisfies the entry of the physical as well
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          2  as the written and psychological exam, and is an

          3  officer then is there a continuous requirement for a

          4  physical testing that they would have to meet once

          5  that is done originally?

          6                 Can someone be actually fired from

          7  inability physically to do the job?

          8                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  No, as a matter

          9  of fact we don't have any structured required

         10  physical ability testing, no structured required

         11  medical testing unless you suffer an injury, we then

         12  have to evaluate whether or not you can come back

         13  and perform full duties again.

         14                 Those officers that can't perform

         15  after they suffered an injury and it was a work

         16  related injury, a line of duty related injury, those

         17  are the individuals who would ultimately be

         18  qualified to receive a disability pension.

         19                 If it's a non-line of duty injury and

         20  you are unable to do the job, then you are going to

         21  be able to be retired on an ordinary disability

         22  pension.  Right now the department has some

         23  incentive programs for individuals who can

         24  demonstrate physical ability towards points for

         25  promotional exams for Sergeant, Lieutenant and
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          2  Captain, but there is no required physical testing

          3  beyond that which you take to get on the job and

          4  that which you would have to do as part of your

          5  police academy training.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:

          7  Now,individuals who have a desire to join the

          8  department, it seems to me that there is a driving

          9  force and a commitment for service and physical

         10  preparedness and not just anybody wants to become a

         11  police officer.

         12                 So, there is a desire and there is

         13  the physical ability that one knows and undertakes

         14  to prepare themselves to do this, whether it is 25

         15  or 55, if they know the rigors and the

         16  responsibilities, so there is a preparation.

         17                 The police department just doesn't

         18  take anybody, so we are talking about people who

         19  have actually had the mental ability and also had

         20  the physical ability, because you don't take people

         21  who just can't do the job.  And so, that should be

         22  the sole criteria and the age I've seen -- you know

         23  a friend of mine when he was 18, he dropped dead on

         24  the basketball court and so I am a little concerned

         25  about -- because I know what you all stand for, or
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          2  what the department stands for and I know that when

          3  people have a desire to become a part of there is

          4  the understanding and the commitment for physical,

          5  as well as mental ability.

          6                 So, I just have those concerns with

          7  technology and advanced life expectancy if it's

          8  going up tremendously then there is a question how

          9  do we tell a person who excelled in one career and

         10  wants to do something else and has the physical and

         11  mental ability to do it that there is an age limit

         12  that you just can't serve.

         13                 That's just my concern. You know I am

         14  50 plus, and I think I can outrun a lot of 21 year

         15  olds.  That is just my concern. I know that just not

         16  anybody can go and become a police officer. I know

         17  that they are physically ready and understand that

         18  commitment so I am just a little bit concerned with

         19  the issue, I have concerns about it.

         20                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  If I can just

         21  respond to that. I think that first of all thank you

         22  for the very kind words you say about the police

         23  officers because I think that it's true.  People

         24  that become police officers are certainly driven to

         25  achieve excellence to do the best job they can for
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          2  the City.

          3                 The event that you talk about with a

          4  friend of yours who had an unfortunate incident, you

          5  know it's unique, it's not typically the case when

          6  an 18 year old person suffers that problem. But it

          7  certainly is much more difficult as a person becomes

          8  45, 50, 55, the chances of that kind of event

          9  happening increase geometrically arithmetically.

         10                 I think that's what this maximum

         11  appointment age takes into account rationally and

         12  logically the likelihood of those events and you

         13  have to have a police force that meet the physical

         14  challenges and sometimes the body may be willing or

         15  the mind may be willing and the body cannot

         16  necessarily do what the mind is asking it to do.  I

         17  think that the maximum appointment age that we have

         18  in place now kind of balances the need for a police

         19  officer to be able to meet those physical challenges

         20  that the job presents on a daily basis when you are

         21  out on patrol.

         22                 With the fact that there are people

         23  out there that would like to do this job but simply

         24  don't have the requisite physical capability

         25  anymore, and again we have to look at these things
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          2  on groups and categories, as opposed to one or two

          3  individual examples.  That is the way the public

          4  policy comes to be that we have to have a line at

          5  some point where the averages are that when they are

          6  this side of the line it's possible for you to be

          7  able to do what you desire to do and as that line

          8  and as you get up in age it just physically and

          9  physiologically your body is not capable of handling

         10  those demands.

         11                 So I think that this particular age

         12  requirement that we have balances, that it is

         13  something that is not unique to the New York City

         14  Police Department, it is something that Federal Law

         15  Enforcement Agencies, the U.S. Military, any kind of

         16  a job that you can think of that involves public

         17  safety that has this physical aspect recognizes that

         18  tension that exists and that balance and tries to

         19  come up with what is reasonable and rational.  I

         20  think that the current administrative code provides

         21  for that a reasonable and rational approach to this

         22  issue.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Well, just

         24  one more question.  The question of the ability and

         25  the authority of the Commissioner to make a decision
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          2  as to who will be an officer and who will not is

          3  still in place.

          4                 So, the decision will be made based

          5  on ability and so that is not being taken away, nor

          6  is this bill saying that you had to take

          7  individuals, it is saying that they should have the

          8  opportunity and it is still the discretion of the

          9  Commissioner based upon physical, mental,

         10  psychological, and all of the other factors, you

         11  still have a safeguard.

         12                 But my concern is what happens to the

         13  individual who can meet all the challenges and is

         14  not afforded the opportunity, and that is a real

         15  concern that I have because we have never taken away

         16  the safeguard of the selection by the department, so

         17  it's there. That is my concern.

         18                 When there was a draft and we were

         19  drafted everyone was eligible for the draft but it

         20  was the service who decided who would be accepted.

         21  Even though we all met the pool and  some did and

         22  some did not.

         23                 So my concern is that here we are

         24  saying that if you are 36 you are over the hill and

         25  not necessarily but given the opportunity and if a
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          2  person can meet the challenge, then they should have

          3  the job, and the department had been very good in

          4  making the selections.

          5                 They have been very good in saying

          6  well this person does not meet the qualifications in

          7  weeding out those individuals so that opportunity

          8  exists and I think that it would be more balanced

          9  because people are living longer.  People change

         10  careers and have done some things and that's the

         11  importance of all of this.

         12                 I would hope that just some

         13  consideration would be looked at because you still

         14  have the safeguard of looking at it and saying well

         15  there are some people who are exceptions who are 40

         16  who can do this job and they are a hell of a lot

         17  more than 40 who can't do this job.  But, that

         18  opportunity is there and I think that is my concern

         19  about it because it can be discriminatory.

         20                 I'm saying that you have actually

         21  excluded a tremendous amount of people who are

         22  eligible, who want to participate and that's the

         23  concern that I have.  Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         24                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  If I can just

         25  respond to that concern. First I think that even
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          2  during the draft there were age limits as to when

          3  someone would be eligible to be part of that pool

          4  and I think that again it's important to recognize

          5  that the Commissioner has an element of discretion

          6  but the Civil Service regulations also require that

          7  if a person has passed all the screening tests and

          8  is otherwise ineligible, that person has the

          9  opportunity to be appointed and is not complete

         10  discretion as to whether the Commissioner can hire

         11  or not hire that person.

         12                 There are regulations within Civil

         13  Service rules and Civil Service laws that would

         14  constrain absolute discretion in this area.  What

         15  the provision in the Administrative Code and the

         16  exemption in the Federal law the ADEA exemption for

         17  Law Enforcement and Public Safety Occupations

         18  recognizes that there is a point where

         19  physiologically and physically an individual is

         20  unlikely to be able to meet all the demands

         21  throughout the expected 20 year duration of their

         22  career as a person who is under that cut-off age.

         23                 So, the law recognizes that this

         24  particular occupation law enforcement has to make

         25  that tough decision and place the emphasis on
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          2  individuals who are going to be productive during

          3  their entire 20 year career and that productivity is

          4  a lot less likely as you move up in the age bracket.

          5    So I think that again the Administrative Code

          6  provision code right now that lists age 35 as the

          7  maximum appointment age, again it does a good job of

          8  having a rational time to say that beyond this point

          9  it is unlikely that you are going to be able to do

         10  what a person who is 25, 26, 30, 32 is going to be

         11  able to do.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  The police

         13  department now has an educational requirement to

         14  become a police officer, is that correct?

         15                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  That is correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: What is that

         17  requirement?

         18                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  It is 60 college

         19  credits with a 2.0 grade point average.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Okay. What is

         21  the logic behind issuing that you may be aware of

         22  having an age requirement? Do you know the rational

         23  with it?

         24                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON: Fundamentally

         25  college educated police officers are going to have
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          2  more exposure to a variety of different people, they

          3  are going to be better prepared to make decisions,

          4  they are going to have more knowledge so there are a

          5  number of important reasons why education

          6  requirements was instituted for police officers.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  And the

          8  current starting salary for police officers was what

          9  now.

         10                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  I don't have --

         11  I think it is $31,000 dollars.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Right.  So we

         13  are looking for police officers who of course can

         14  pass exam and of course are mature and with college

         15  experience to take a job which only pays $31,000 a

         16  year so wouldn't it be more likely that a person in

         17  a career change in their life who is older, who is

         18  going back to school is generally older?

         19                 INSPECTOR JENNINGS:  I think that in

         20  many other careers the likelihood of bringing with

         21  you a pension that is paying you already and taking

         22  another job would be a lot less likely.  In fact, I

         23  believe older people who are established, who have

         24  families and obligations with children and so forth

         25  might be in less of a position to be able to do
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          2  that.

          3                 So again, that maximum appointment

          4  age is designed to make sure that individuals can do

          5  the physical ability, the physical nature of the job

          6  and it doesn't really speak to the kind of issue

          7  suggesting.  I think the important thing to

          8  recognize is that the age requirement is there to

          9  make sure that individuals who select this

         10  occupation are going to be able to meet the physical

         11  demands of the position.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: But with a

         13  salary of only $34,000 dollars with the education

         14  requirement, you know for a young person to come in

         15  they would really, really want to be a police

         16  officer to take this job with that requirement.

         17  Usually a person who is more mature, you know after

         18  they have had maybe a different trade in their life,

         19  maybe at age 36 they would decide becoming a police

         20  officer is something I always wanted to do, so let

         21  me try that.

         22                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  Just a couple of

         23  comments on that.  First the starting salary is one

         24  issue, but of course over the first few years of

         25  your career your salary is going to rise up to
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          2  $55,000.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  After how many

          4  years sir?

          5                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  After I believe

          6  four years.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Four years?

          8                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  Okay.

          9                 Now, again, someone trying out a

         10  career at age 36 and finding that they are not going

         11  to be able to meet the physical demands of the job

         12  may lead to truncated careers where people come into

         13  the police department, last two or three or four

         14  years and realize the job is too physically

         15  demanding move on, creating a problem for the police

         16  department in terms of training, turn- over.

         17                 Having officers who view the job as a

         18  career, who are physically able to do the job and

         19  can stay the 20 years that is required, all of those

         20  factors come into play when you start talking about

         21  picking people up in mid-career situations.

         22  Policing, particularly patrol and enforcement

         23  related work is something that is more pressing a

         24  duty earlier in your career when you are arguably in

         25  the most physical shape to be able to handle those
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          2  responsibilities.

          3                 So again, that maximum appointment

          4  age cuts that group so that we have people that can

          5  do the physical aspect of the job and do it

          6  successfully.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: You spoke

          8  earlier of a rational age and you could pick a

          9  rational age because of particularly in light of the

         10  time to retire is mandatory at age 68 63.

         11                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  That is correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  You also

         13  mentioned that a person age 35 or 36, if they came

         14  with military experience, would get six years

         15  credit.  Right?  So a person age 41 with military

         16  experience could come in and become a police

         17  officer.

         18                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  Yes, that is

         19  correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Well, would it

         21  be rational then that maybe the age limit should be

         22  43 or 42?  Would you think that might be a rational

         23  age?

         24                 INSPECTOR JENNINGS:  Well, again, the

         25  age that was selected is pretty consistent with
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          2  other occupations like policing in New York City,

          3  U.S. Military Service has a 34 year old age

          4  requirement, Federal Agencies like the ATF, the DEA

          5  have an age requirement 36 and 37 respectively.  So

          6  that age that is in the Administrative Code of age

          7  35 is certainly consistent with what other law

          8  enforcement agencies believe is where the line

          9  should be drawn.

         10                 I think it is consistent with our

         11  experience in the police department that the

         12  statistics I cited in my testimony, having people

         13  come into the department up to that age and start in

         14  their careers there given the exemption that's

         15  available to members with military service to be a

         16  little bit older but the vast majority of

         17  individuals who come in are going to be able to do

         18  physical nature of the job.

         19                 As you go above that to age 36, 37,

         20  38 you know the unique elements of policing in New

         21  York City come into play and I think that age is a

         22  good age, it's a rational age, whether the line was

         23  drawn at 35 or 36, you know that's one question.

         24  When you start talking about drawing it at 42, 43,

         25  44 again, the statistics that I cited indicate you
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          2  are much more likely to suffer debilitating injury

          3  and much more likely to have problems with

          4  disability retirements being increased, you are much

          5  more likely to lose a lot more days to injury, sick

          6  time, recuperation time is increased and those

          7  factors conspire to suggest that the age 35 is the

          8  way to go.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  So say a

         10  sliding scale somewhere in the higher thirties might

         11  be more rational than age 35, 36, 37, 38 because you

         12  mentioned earlier the DEA is at age closer to age

         13  37. I think other uniform police officers around the

         14  country is at highest 39.

         15                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  I don't have

         16  that data.  Again, I think that for New York City's

         17  particular case, age 35 has been a long standing

         18  maximum appointment age and it seems to be a good

         19  place to draw the line for our particular set of

         20  circumstances, which is in New York City.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  We are

         22  currently because of our physical crisis, put a

         23  freeze on new recruits, is that correct? On the new

         24  academy?

         25                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  Not to my
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          2  knowledge.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  I thought the

          4  Mayor was going to freeze a few of the academy

          5  classes or let's say for example, hypothetically

          6  then, that because of our budget crisis that we are

          7  in that we are going to have to freeze academy

          8  classes for the next 18 or 24 months.  Probably for

          9  the next year or two.  They wouldn't be able to hire

         10  anyone to start.  And we have people on the list now

         11  who are age 35, 34 who certainly quality to enter

         12  the academy now but because of the budget freeze and

         13  the budget crisis that we face, if we have to cancel

         14  classes for the next two years, two years from now

         15  they will be age 37 or maybe age 38.  What would you

         16  say to those candidates?

         17                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  Those candidates

         18  would not be ineligible because what is controlling

         19  is the date you are filing for the exam.  You have

         20  to be less than 35 on the date that you file for the

         21  exam.  So once you file, once you successfully

         22  competed on the written exam and obtained a

         23  placement on the list, that list is going to run for

         24  four years your going to eligible for appointment.

         25  So the individuals that are expressing some concern
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          2  about, those individuals would not be affected by

          3  this.

          4                 I also should point out that as it

          5  stands right now, what has been proposed is a head

          6  count reduction for the police department that may

          7  occur, but there has been no indication that we are

          8  not going to hire police academy class at the

          9  beginning of next fiscal year.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: No, we hope we

         11  will be able to find the budget, but just in case

         12  there is a budget crisis we hope that we will be

         13  able to meet our expenses, but one of the cuts may

         14  be to freeze hiring our academy classes for the next

         15  two or three years.  So you are saying that if a

         16  person takes the exam at age 35 and they pass the

         17  exam and hypothetically there is no academy classes

         18  for the next three years, that when they reach age

         19  38 they can become a police officer.

         20                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  Yes, what

         21  controls is your date, your age at the date you

         22  filed for the police officer exam. You cannot have

         23  reached your 35th birthday by that time.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Thank you. The

         25  Chair recognizes Council Member Gallagher.

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Thank you

          3  Mr. Chairman.

          4                 Thank you very much Inspector for

          5  your testimony.  I just want to try and maybe clear

          6  a few things up.  I guess one of the problems that I

          7  have with this bill is the bill actually eliminates

          8  the age requirement.  Is that correct?

          9                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  That is correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  So then if

         11  somebody came in and they were 60 years old and they

         12  met the physical criteria and the mental criteria

         13  and all the different exams and tests that you put

         14  forth, then there would be no retirement age at 63

         15  because the Administrative Code requires for them to

         16  have an opportunity to put in 20 years.  So if

         17  somebody starts at age 60 then they would be on the

         18  job until age 80.

         19                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  That is correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:

         21  Theoretically I know that there are probably a lot

         22  of people out there who are in good shape, but I

         23  don't know how many 80 year olds could perform the

         24  vigorous and the hard tasks and different things

         25  that the police officers in the City of New York
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          2  have to do.  So what would happen to them. Would

          3  they get special assignments, behind desk?

          4                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  It would be

          5  difficult to conceive how we could make a productive

          6  use in the kind of job that policing in New York

          7  City requires of an individual who would start at an

          8  age that would be three years less when most people

          9  have to retire from the police department by law. I

         10  really don't know what we would do with individuals

         11  in that category.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  So is it

         13  safe to say that also if we pass this legislation

         14  that it might not be the most physically responsible

         15  thing that we could do. I mean you gave statistics

         16  that showed as time goes on the amount of more sick

         17  days and unlimited sick days are afforded to New

         18  York's finest.  I understand in addition you gave

         19  statistics that show that the older the officer gets

         20  the more likely for permanent disability and so

         21  physically it would probably cost the City more.

         22                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  That certainly

         23  would be our projection.  I think you could expect

         24  increased training costs because of the turnover

         25  that would accrue as individuals that start the job
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          2  old would be more likely to have something happen to

          3  them where they would need a disability pension.

          4  And by the way that could be something in a line of

          5  duty injury that would result in an accidental

          6  disability or just a physical or medical condition

          7  that would develop that would render them unable to

          8  do full duty and they would be retired on an

          9  ordinary disability.  So, you could expect some

         10  increased pension costs. I think you could expect

         11  decreased productivity due to increased days lost

         12  from working when individuals do sustain an injury

         13  and also I think increased training costs.  It bears

         14  a very disturbing picture of the costs associated

         15  with a bill like this.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Yes. If

         17  you can because I hear a lot of talk about 35, 36,

         18  37 years old and maybe there are some arguments for

         19  a 36 and 37 year old, but it is clear in your

         20  testimony that 35 is not just an arbitrary number

         21  that has been pulled out of a hat.  This is

         22  something that has been obviously gone through some

         23  studies and different determinations why 35 was the

         24  age limit for the cutoff.

         25                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  The age 35 has
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          2  been in place for many years.  The complex picture

          3  that I presented was the experience that we have,

          4  the days of work that are lost to injuries, all of

          5  those factors inform us that the age 35 that

          6  currently stands in the Administrative Code is a

          7  rational and logical place to draw that line and

          8  really doesn't require any movement in either

          9  direction from where the police department sits on

         10  the issue.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Thank you

         12  very much.  I just want to go on record as saying I

         13  understand my colleague Council Member Seabrook's

         14  arguments about somebody who is 35 and 36, but the

         15  bill that is before us Intro. 105 clearly states

         16  it's the removing the age limit for police officers

         17  and it's my assertion, my belief that somebody may

         18  be at 50 years old who is eligible and may be able

         19  to make it but by the time 65 and 70 comes around

         20  it's going to be very difficult for them to perform

         21  the wonderful duties that the police officers of the

         22  City of New York, this wonderful City of New York

         23  built.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  The Chair

         25  recognizes Council Member Seabrook.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Thank you

          3  Mr. Chairman. I guess the age 35 has to deal with

          4  also being eligible to be President of the United

          5  States.  So maybe that's where they got that number

          6  from, I'm not sure.

          7                 The police department has made a

          8  change from 35 to possibly 38, based on military

          9  service, so the number is there but it's a good

         10  sounding number but the ability to change to 38 is

         11  rational and it exists.  So maybe my colleague from

         12  Staten Island was correct, maybe we take it beyond

         13  60, 50, you know, but I take exceptions to that

         14  because I'm that age but anyway.  I think if we're

         15  looking and the department has actually hired people

         16  at 38 and 39 and has done a good job and such a good

         17  job that they have not said that we can't do it and

         18  we have to go back to 35 because they have hired

         19  people beyond that age.

         20                 So I think that this is something

         21  hopefully that can be looked at, that perhaps based

         22  upon circumstances that we might have to move that

         23  age up a couple of years.  Not just anybody, but I

         24  think 35 to 38 in that range kind of gives a sense

         25  of flexibility and it has happened.  You know if
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          2  there was no precedent to it then I wouldn't raise

          3  the issue, but there has been precedent based on

          4  other circumstances but the age remains at 38 or 37

          5  or even 40 that a person could come on and start as

          6  a rookie.  So the number is not there, there are

          7  exceptions and so that hopefully the circumstances

          8  that there can be a compromise to at least reach a

          9  number beyond 35 because it is to be President of

         10  the United States at 35 so we can move it up a

         11  little bit.

         12                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  Perhaps I can

         13  respond to that. The observations that you are

         14  making are absolutely correct, but again they

         15  precede from the fact that you have a maximum age at

         16  which you can file to become a police officer and

         17  then there is a period of time that an individual

         18  has an eligibility because they sit on a list for

         19  whatever that length of time is.  Once you raise

         20  that maximum appointment age then correspondingly

         21  the individual that takes the test at age 38 or 39

         22  is then able to sit on the list until 42, 43 years

         23  of age.

         24                 Again, as I have given you an

         25  indication in my testimony, when you begin to get
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          2  into those brackets for an individual starting their

          3  career as a raw recruit and then going out onto

          4  patrol at that age when their contemporaries have

          5  got six, seven, eight years of experience as a

          6  police officer already, and have learned how to do

          7  the job and perhaps be able to protect themselves in

          8  situations where an inexperience officer placed in

          9  those same circumstances wouldn't have the

         10  experience as a police officer to be able to protect

         11  themselves from injury.

         12                 I think that is when you are going to

         13  begin to see the increased pension cost, the

         14  increased turnover, the increased time lost with

         15  injuries, again simply because an individual may be

         16  quite willing mentally and spiritually to want to do

         17  this particular job but there is just an unavoidable

         18  physical part of this job that has to be taken into

         19  consideration when a person starts their career and

         20  that has to be taken under consideration where we

         21  say when the maximum appointment age should be.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  I heard

         23  what you are saying and I kind of agree with you.

         24                 It was very interesting, over 20

         25  years ago the physical instructors at the police
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          2  academy were over 35, the guys that I knew there.

          3  They were over 35 years of age and they were in very

          4  good shape, Norman, Al Gotay (phonetic), Mr.

          5  Gleendut (phonetic) they were over 35 so I am just

          6  saying, we have to be very careful with this because

          7  the guys that got us in shape were older than we

          8  were.

          9                 INSPECTOR ANDERSON:  You are right

         10  about that.  I worked in the police academy and I

         11  worked with Al Gotay and Jimmy Smith and some of the

         12  other individuals that obviously you are familiar

         13  with and again I just have to state those

         14  individuals had some pretty substantial police

         15  experience along with their experience physically

         16  and started their careers as did everyone else in

         17  the police department under the age of 35.  Some of

         18  them substantially under the age of 35 and accrued

         19  that experience that they needed to impart onto

         20  these younger recruits that were physically able to

         21  take this training and physically able to go out and

         22  do the job and accrue that experience so when they

         23  got to the same point in their lives they would be

         24  able to do the job, understand the complexities with

         25  the job, protect themselves from sustaining
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          2  injuries, situations where someone else might not be

          3  able to do that because they simply would just be at

          4  a different point in their physical lives and in

          5  their ability to meet those demands.

          6                 So again I think it is important to

          7  realize that experience is an important component

          8  and accruing it younger when perhaps your body can

          9  accept a little bit more than later is what leads us

         10  to believe based on these figures that individuals

         11  starting out later in their lives are going to be

         12  faced with these consequences of increased time

         13  lost, increased disability pension, a greater

         14  likelihood of injury.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Inspector I

         16  think that the interest in increasing the age is not

         17  just the physical aspect is the one qualifying them

         18  to get a job, of course at any age at 21 at 18 or

         19  35, whatever age you join the force, they have to

         20  pass the required test to get on and they have to

         21  make it to the academy.

         22                 A lot of people are interested in

         23  having mature officers, I think officers who are

         24  over -- most of the statistics I read most of the

         25  excessive use of force or perpetrate officers are
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          2  under age 27 and officers over the age of 30, the

          3  more mature an officer is, the less likely this

          4  excessive use of force for those accused incidents.

          5  Officers over age 35 or over age 30 they are less

          6  likely to have those problems versus younger

          7  recruits.

          8                 I would like to thank you for you

          9  testimony today. It is good to see you again

         10  Assistant Commissioner Petito.  You are always so

         11  quite.  Do you have anything you would like to add?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: No,

         13  thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Okay. Thank

         15  you.

         16                 The Chair would like to call on the

         17  next witness.

         18  Excuse me, Inspector, do you mind staying around

         19  just in case I have a question for you after our

         20  next witness?  Thank you.

         21                 Next witness is Robert McCrie,

         22  Professor of Law, John Jay College of Criminal

         23  Justice.  Good afternoon Professor.

         24  I guess today you are lucky that all of us here are

         25  John Jay alumnus.
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          2                 PROFESSOR McCRIE:  I am happy to be

          3  here as well to see some alumni and thank you for

          4  coming to the school as you have done in the past.

          5                 Well, I am Bob McCrie, Chairman of

          6  the Department of Law, Police Science and Criminal

          7  Justice Administration at John Jay College of

          8  Criminal Justice. This is the department that has a

          9  program in police studies and I imagine that is the

         10  reason why Mr. Altman and Mr. Tribula called and

         11  asked me to come and share the perspective we might

         12  have about removing the age limit for police

         13  officers joining the NYPD.

         14                 So what I did was I conducted a

         15  literature search just to see what was happening.  I

         16  discovered that there is no scientific research

         17  related to age of employment for police officers and

         18  career performance.  Therefore, I cannot point you

         19  to a published study or series of studies that could

         20  affect public policy.

         21                 This type of research could be

         22  undertaken and perhaps it will be in the future.

         23  The research would merge different databases and

         24  examine career performance by identifying desirable

         25  and undesirable characteristics of police activities
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          2  and then linking them to the ages in which the

          3  officers first joined the force.

          4                 Police studies researchers in my

          5  department have the capacity to do that, but not the

          6  means at the present time. It is very rational, a

          7  word I heard a few minutes ago to do that, it just

          8  hasn't been done anywhere. Lacking such a scientific

          9  basis I can report nonetheless on what police law

         10  enforcement organizations elsewhere currently have

         11  as a policy, why they have it and what the trend is.

         12

         13                 First, let's consider something we

         14  haven't talked about, the minimum age.  Although

         15  hiring criteria vary around the nation, most law

         16  enforcement agencies, local, state, and federal

         17  require that all applicants be at least 19, or more

         18  commonly 21 years of age at the time they will be

         19  sworn in for service.  The reason for this is that

         20  most younger persons are not considered mature

         21  enough for the responsibilities of contemporary

         22  policing. A few departments have raised the minimum

         23  age on the grounds that even many 21-year-olds are

         24  not mature enough for the judgment required of an

         25  urban sworn police officer.  In a moment, you will
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          2  see that for yourself.

          3                 Now let's consider the issue of

          4  maximum age. Historically, many law enforcement

          5  organizations have a maximum age for entry into

          6  policing. The reasons for setting a maximum age have

          7  cited several arguments.

          8                 First the financial one. According to

          9  a well regarded scholar of police studies, Samuel

         10  Walker at the University of Nebraska at Omaha:

         11   "These limits were primarily designed to reduce

         12  financial strains on pension systems by officers who

         13  would retire after few years on the job than younger

         14  officers."

         15                 Another reason is physical. The fact

         16  is that police work generally  does not involve much

         17  physical confrontations with suspects.  Height

         18  requirements have been removed by police agencies

         19  all around the nation with standards today linking

         20  height to proportionality in weight.  However, it is

         21  reasonable to assume that some police duty

         22  absolutely requires taxing physical exertion or the

         23  capacity to do so safely, running, climbing,

         24  lifting, holding and shooting, that presumably could

         25  be accomplished more effectively by younger police
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          2  officers.

          3                 As a result, the NYPD now requires

          4  body composition analysis and testing for aerobic

          5  activity and strength, this is called the trigger

          6  pull test, as requirements for employment. These

          7  physical tests seem reasonable and should be met by

          8  officers at the time they enter police service and

          9  theoretically for their entire term of service.

         10                 And a third reason for having maximum

         11  minimum entry level is health and benefits related

         12  costs.  Still another argument has been that

         13  injuries to older persons are more costly for a

         14  health benefits coverage system than from younger

         15  persons.  Simply put, older police officers, like

         16  older people in all lines of work, have higher

         17  insurance and benefits costs.  The actuarial cost of

         18  this is real but again has not been reported in the

         19  literature studies for full police departments.

         20                 So what's the trend, the trend for

         21  requiring employment as a police officer?  In 1982,

         22  53 percent of all police departments in the United

         23  States had maximum age limits, but since then the

         24  percentage of departments with a maximum  age limit

         25  has fallen.  The prevalence declined to 30 percent
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          2  in one in one study published in 1994 and then down

          3  to 12 percent in a more recent study 1999.  Why has

          4  this happened?

          5                 The most important reason for

          6  removing the age limit for police officers is that

          7  federal law banning age discrimination in the

          8  workplace has forced many urban police departments

          9  to eliminate this.  The Age Discrimination in

         10  Employment Act of 1967 was the impetus and New York

         11  City has a waiver for this Act for police and fire

         12  personnel.  At present it is not consistent however

         13  with the policy trend in other cities.

         14                 Another reason for the trend to

         15  remove the age limit is that some [police executives

         16  feel frustrated at losing some of their best, most

         17  experienced and most mature officers when they

         18  accept a 20 year retirement program. According to

         19  one author: "This means that the best and most

         20  experienced officers are often lost at the peak of

         21  their use to the department and only to receive

         22  halfpay for not working."

         23                 In conclusion, the trend supports

         24  removing the maximum age limitation for new recruits

         25  to the New York City Police Department.  This does
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          2  not mean that police departments should be any less

          3  diligent in conducting a job analysis and

          4  instituting physical requirements linked to

          5  officers' expected work duties. It's likely that

          6  recruits are out there for the NYPD who are older

          7  than 35 and capable of serving their Department and

          8  the City in an exemplary fashion.

          9                 Now what I attached to my statement

         10  are some comparisons of minimum and maximum age in

         11  different kinds of law enforcement systems.

         12                 The first table shows hiring by

         13  police state organizations.  This data is old, done

         14  by my former colleague, the late Don Taures, but

         15  even then 27 out of the 49 had no age maximum for

         16  joining a state police system.  The Federal system,

         17  which always has it's own way to go on this, even

         18  there 6 of 19, about one- third of the systems, have

         19  no age limit for serving in these Federal agencies.

         20  If we were to look at it today undoubtedly we would

         21  see some different numbers but this was the best I

         22  could do in the time I had available to prepare my

         23  statement.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Professor, why

         25  do you think that the police department is so
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          2  comfortable with only using age 35 as their maximum

          3  age limits.

          4                 PROFESSOR McCRIE:  I don't know, I

          5  just think that they sort of closed their thinking

          6  on this.  The previous speaker he didn't have the

          7  data available to him. Now the data are available to

          8  him and maybe he would be a little more flexible in

          9  his thinking about it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  The Chair

         11  recognizes Council Member Seabrook.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Thank you

         13  Mr. Chairman. It's going to be interesting because

         14  there is a question I have always tried to figure

         15  out where that 35 years has come from myself.

         16                 You raise the issue if -- has there

         17  been any study to deal with those police departments

         18  that do not have maximum ages, with the argument of

         19  physical, because as you heard the first complaint

         20  or comment was about the physical inability of a

         21  certain age and also as it relates to the financial

         22  component. These are states that have no

         23  requirements and they are not as financially

         24  equipped as the City so they would be more prone to

         25  have an age cut- off because of the lack of the
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          2  ability to have all of the finance for paying these

          3  pensions.

          4                 What is the base, as if in any study,

          5  to see the amount of police work, the absenteeism

          6  rate of these states who do not have this

          7  requirement as compared to say New York.

          8                 PROFESSOR McCRIE:  A very pertinent

          9  question Councilman Seabrook.  And note that this

         10  statement shows that there has been a trend in

         11  cities of declining requirement of the maximum age,

         12  going from 53 down to 12 percent in not so many

         13  years.  So you would expect over that trend that

         14  there would be an outpouring of reaction against

         15  having the maximum age.

         16                 There were serious problems that had

         17  popped up.  It was costing them and unacceptable

         18  amount.  Do you think that budget directors would

         19  remain silent?  I don't think they would.  And we

         20  haven't heard that.  We haven't seen it in the

         21  literature.  Before coming here on Friday and on

         22  Saturday I contacted all my colleagues at John Jay

         23  who are experts in what we call police procedures

         24  and police studies research and asked them if they

         25  knew of anything that I had not identified.  They
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          2  didn't.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Thank you

          4  very much.  I think those are the issues and

          5  concerns.  If there is physical and the fiscal and

          6  it has not happened in all of these states that have

          7  no maximum requirements.  I am trying to understand

          8  the logic of the argument but maybe I'll read on and

          9  find it someplace.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Professor,

         11  John Jay College of Criminal Justice and you can

         12  elaborate, works well with the New York City Police

         13  Department to try to recruit and help bring the

         14  students, prepare the students to join the New York

         15  City Police Department.  Is that correct?

         16                 PROFESSOR McCRIE:  That's correct.

         17  We started in the New York City Police Department in

         18  the police academy going back to the 1950's and then

         19  we organized as a distinct liberal arts college with

         20  a special focus in 1964 still in the police academy,

         21  moved into some space made available by Baruch

         22  College and became a subordinate there and then

         23  subsequently became an independent institution.  So

         24  we have had a long historic relationship with the

         25  New York City Police Department.  We have current
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          2  New York City Police Department officers who teach

          3  in my department, and faculty members are proud to

          4  have them and we an enormous amount of training for

          5  the NYPD as well as other law enforcement

          6  organizations on an ongoing basis.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Now when I was

          8  at John Jay College some years ago 1990, 1992, I

          9  think at that time John Jay College of Criminal

         10  Justice spearheaded the push for having an

         11  educational requirement in the police department,

         12  NYPD, is that correct?

         13                 PROFESSOR McCRIE: That is correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  What is the

         15  average age of student who are coming to John Jay

         16  College at this time.

         17                 PROFESSOR McCRIE:  I don't think the

         18  age has changed so much.  This doesn't answer your

         19  question but I would really like to share it.  There

         20  has been a great outpouring of commitment from

         21  people we have seen in the last three semesters.

         22  People who want to serve the city, serve the public

         23  and we have seen a strong increase in students

         24  wanting to come to John Jay for preparation for

         25  careers in policing and other forms of public
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          2  service.

          3                 But in terms of age, we have students

          4  from 17 and up.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  For example

          6  evening classes, are the students ages over 35 or 30

          7  coming to the evening programs?

          8                 PROFESSOR McCRIE:  That is correct.

          9  Our evening students tend to be    older and

         10  obviously are graduate students and are older as

         11  well.  We have this day- evening structure.  We call

         12  them bracketed courses taught by the same

         13  instructor, the same material and this was done as

         14  an accommodation for police officers who sometimes

         15  would have shift changes in the middle of the

         16  semester.  We didn't want them to lose the course.

         17  By this mechanism it was possible for them to finish

         18  the semester without any difficulty.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  The students

         20  who are attending night classes are more mature than

         21  students.  Don't they have a strong desire as well

         22  to serve in the police department?

         23                 PROFESSOR McCRIE:  Yes, that is true.

         24    When we see people, we nurture them, we want them

         25  to follow their dreams to seek out careers that will
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          2  serve the public and serve their own inner goals as

          3  well.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  I don't know

          5  if you have this information with you, but do you

          6  have any information regarding the use of force or

          7  if there is misconduct with officers under 30 versus

          8  over 30?

          9                 PROFESSOR McCRIE:  That has been

         10  studied and the answer is yes that excessive use of

         11  force tends to be a characteristic of younger police

         12  officers.  We use the word maturity earlier as

         13  meaning reason for not bringing people too young

         14  into the police department but it also has its

         15  significance in identifying the kinds of people who

         16  are less likely to be unacceptably aggressive in

         17  their dealings with public situations as well.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Just one last

         19  question regarding the educational requirement.

         20  John Jay has been working with the NYPD in terms of

         21  having officers that are sergeants or lieutenants;

         22  they need to have a four year degree now.

         23                 PROFESSOR McCRIE:  That is correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  So those

         25  officers are coming at nights and are more mature
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          2  officers?

          3                 PROFESSOR McCRIE:  Oh, definitely.

          4  Actually they have been coming on Fridays when a

          5  special program that has been funded by the Council

          6  has been operating now for at least three semesters;

          7  operating very well I might say.  I am grateful the

          8  Council has made funds available for this.  So they

          9  are coming on Fridays, 300- 400- 500 of them and are

         10  working towards their degree with Friday and

         11  Saturday study.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Maybe you can

         13  help the committee to understand.  With the

         14  educational requirement, and the current age limits

         15  of age 35, how adversely does that affect the

         16  recruitment at John Jay.  Another question is, if we

         17  were to remove the age limit what would we gain by

         18  John Jay and NYPD?

         19                 PROFESSOR McCRIE:  There are two

         20  different issues here. From an enrollment standpoint

         21  it's neutral as far as John Jay is concerned.  From

         22  the police department it would probably bring into

         23  the department some individuals with characteristics

         24  that were not recognized by the previous speaker.

         25  People with life experiences, with skills, with
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          2  earlier careers they could be very useful to

          3  policing, but now are excluded by this 35

          4  limitation.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  The Chair

          6  recognizes Council Member Seabrook.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  I think

          8  that's the crux of the issue about diversity and

          9  that the City has expanded.  You know I have had the

         10  opportunity for a number of years to teach police

         11  officers and I also teach at the college now a

         12  program for police officers. So I see the need and I

         13  see the type of diversity and experience that it

         14  could bring for someone wanting a second career

         15  start in the police department.  It would enhance

         16  the department tremendously.

         17                 PROFESSOR McCRIE: Right

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: I think that

         19  what is being done in the educational requirements

         20   -- I am looking -- would you know the requirement,

         21  because it wasn't listed here in Puerto Rico.

         22                 PROFESSOR McCRIE:  No, I don't.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Okay.

         24  Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Thank you very
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          2  much Professor for your testimony.

          3                 This brings to conclusion our

          4  hearing.  The Committee will meet again next year.

          5  A Happy Holiday to everyone and we will pick back up

          6  on this topic again later on.  We will see based on

          7  the testimony given here today if we will pass this

          8  legislation as written or if we may make some

          9  adjustments with age based on testimony. We will

         10  pick up early next year.  Thank you. The meeting is

         11  now adjourned.

         12                 (Hearing concluded at 2:30 p.m.)
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